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Sent via Email 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 
WASHINGTON, DC 20580 

Re: FOIA-2025-01312 

April 29, 2025 

This is a response from the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") to your Freedom of 

Information Act ("FOIA") request dated March 6, 2025, seeking access to copies of final reports, 
reports of investigation, closing reports, closing memos or other conclusory documents from 
each OIG Investigation closed during Calendar Year 2023 and/or Calendar Year 2024. 

In accordance with the FOIA and agency policy, we used appropriate methods to carry 
out a reasonable, good faith search for responsive records beginning on March 10, 2025. See 
Iturralde v. Comptroller of Currency, 315 F.3d 311, 315 (D.C. Cir. 2003); see also e.g. Morley v. 
CIA, 508 F.3d 1108, 1114 (D.C. Cir. 2007). We have located 25 pages of responsive records. 

Under the FOIA foreseeable harm standard, we reasonably foresee that full disclosure of these 
responsive records would harm an interest protected by one or more of the FOIA exemptions 

applied. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(8)(A)(i). Therefore, we are releasing 25 pages of responsive records 
and withholding portions of the records based on the reasons explained below. 

Some portions of the responsive records contain personally identifiable information. This 

information is exempt from release under FOIA Exemption 6, 5 U.S.C. § 552(b )(6), because 
individuals' right to privacy outweighs the general public's interest in seeing personal identifying 
information. See The Lakin Law Firm v. FTC, 352 F.3d 1122 (7th Cir. 2003). 

Some portions of the responsive records are exempt from disclosure under FOIA 
Exemption 7(A), 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(A), because disclosure of that material could reasonably 
be expected to interfere with the conduct of the Commission's law enforcement activities. See 
NLRB v. Robbins Tire & Rubber Co., 437 U.S. 214 (1978). 

Some of the records contain personal identifying information compiled for law 

enforcement purposes. This information is exempt for release under FOIA Exemption 7(C), 5 
U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(C), because individuals' right to privacy outweighs the general public's 

interest in seeing personal identifying information. 

Some of the records were obtained on the condition that the agency keep the source of the 
information confidential and are exempt from disclosure under FOIA Exemption 7(D), 5 U.S.C. 

§ 552(b)(7)(D). That exemption is intended to ensure that "confidential sources are not lost 
because of retaliation against the sources for past disclosures or because of the sources' fear of 
future disclosures." Brant Constr. Co. v. EPA, 778 F.2d 1258, 1262 (7th Cir. 1985). 
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Some information is exempt from disclosure under FOIA Exemption 7(E), 5 U.S.C. § 
552(b )(7)(E). Exemption 7(E) protects information that would disclose techniques and 
procedures for law enforcement investigations or prosecutions, or would disclose guidelines for 
law enforcement investigations or prosecutions if such disclosure could reasonably be expected 
to risk circumvention of the law. See Foster v. DOJ, 933 F. Supp. 687 (E.D. Mich. 1996). 

Please note that a detailed description of each record located is not required unless the 
requester has exhausted all administrative remedies and pursued litigation in the federal district 
court. See Vaughn v. Rosen, 484 F.2d 820 (D.C. Cir. 1973); see also, e.g., Jud Watch, Inc. v. 
Clinton, 880 F. Supp. 1, 11 (D.D.C. 1995). At the administrative stage of the FOIA process, the 
agency's response to a FOIA request need only provide "the reasons" for its determination, 
which include, "most obviously, the specific exemptions that may apply." 5 U.S.C. § 
552(a)(6)(A)(i); see also Citizens for Responsibility & Ethics in Washington v. FEC, 711 F.3d 
180, 186 (D.C. Cir. 2013). 

If you have any questions about the way we handled your request or about the FOIA 
regulations or procedures, please contact Lindsay Robinson at lrobinson@ftc.gov. If you are not 
satisfied with this response to your request, you may appeal by writing to Freedom of 
Information Act Appeal, Office of the General Counsel, Federal Trade Commission, 600 
Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20580, or via email at FOIAAppeal@ftc.gov, 
within 90 days of the date of this letter. Please enclose a copy of your original request and a copy 
of this response. 

You also may seek dispute resolution services from the FTC FOIA Public Liaison 
Richard Gold via telephone at 202-326-3355 or via e-mail at rgold@ftc.gov; or from the Office 
of Government Information Services via email at ogis@nara.gov, via fax at 202-741-5769, or via 
mail at National Archives and Records Administration, Office of Government Information 
Services, 8601 Adelphi Road, College Park, MD 20740. Please note that the FOIA Public 
Liaison's role relates to comments, questions, or concerns that a FOIA Requester may have with 
or about the FOIA Response. The FOIA Public Liaison's role does not relate to taking action in 
matters of private controversy nor can they resolve individual complaints. 

Attachment( s) 

Sincerely, 

;3�u)�� 
Burke W. Kappler 
Assistant General Counsel 
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FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 

WASHING TON, D.C. 20580 

Office oflnspector General 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: 

FROM: 

Andrew Katsaros 
Inspector General 

Noel Rosengart 
Assistant Inspector General for Investigations 

Marissa Gould 

Deputy IG and Counsel to Inspector General 

SUBJECT: Closing Memo (I-22-212) 

January 17, 2023 

On February 26, 2022, AIGI Noel Rosenga1t was contacted by prosecutors from the United States 
Attorney's Office, Southern District of Texas, requesting the production of any and all fraudulent 
identity theft reports purportedly submitted by defendants William Lucas, Deborah Lucas, and Brian 
Corpian, in Consumer Sentinel Network (CSN)_ The FTC OIG identified and provided 12 and 8 identity 
theft reports submitted by Brian Corpian and William Lucas, respectively, primarily in July and 
November 2018 and March and May 2020. 

By way of background, William and Deborah Lucas, husband and wife, along with Corpian, who is 
Deborah Lucas' son, claimed to be pastors at Jesus Survives Ministries (JSM), a now defunct church 
which has had no services for almost the entire past decade. Since 2014, the three defendants made false 

statements regarding their payroll at JSM in submitting car loan applications for purchases of cars which 
they never had any intention of paying for. As a result, William and Deborah Lucas were able to obtain 
several cars through these false applications. 

Additionally, shortly after the enactment of Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security(CARES) 
Act, William Lucas applied for multiple Economic Injury Disaster Loan (EIDL Program and Paycheck 
Protection Program (PPP) loans from numerous banks. In loan applications, William Lucas made false 
statements and provided false documents regarding JSM, including that JSM had gross revenues of 
almost a million dollars in 2019. The intended loss to banks totaled hundreds of thousands of dollars, 
including one bank approving a PPP loan of $50,000 for JSM. 

On September 17, 2020, William Lucas, Deborah Lucas, and Brian Corpian were charged with 
Conspiracy to Commit Bank and Wire Fraud, (18 U.S.C. § 1349); False Statement to a Bank (18 U.S.C. 
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§1014); and Wire Fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1343). On April 14, 2022, a superseding indictment was filed 
against defendants to include charges of Money Laundering ( 18 U.S.C. § 1957) and False Statements to 
the Federal Trade Commission (18 U.S.C. §1001). Finally, a second superseding indictment was filed on 
November 30, 2022, to include Tampering With a witness, victim, or an informant (18 U.S.C. §1512). 

In early December 2022, all three defendants pied guilty before a U.S. Magistrate Judge to Count 1 of 
the second superseding indictment, 18 U.S.C. § 1349 (Conspiracy to Commit Bank and Wire Fraud.) All 
three defendants admitted to making false statements to the FTC based upon three identity theft reports 
provided by the FTC OIG and using false documents regarding the church to fraudulently obtain loan 
proceeds from various banks. All three defendants will be sentenced on May 11, 2023, at which time 
each will face up to 30 years in prison and a possible $1 million fine. 

As a result of the guilty pleas by subjects William Lucas, Deborah Lucas, and Brian Corpian, the OIG 
has concluded its investigative efforts. This matter is now closed. 

Approved: 

Andrew Katsaros, Inspector General 



Office of Inspector General 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: 

FROM: 

Andrew Katsaros 
Inspector General 

Noel Rosengart 
AIGI 

FOIA-2025@1TEIS�¥,l\6f� OF A�Jtie�IED" 
4/29/2025 

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 

WASHING TON, D.C. 20580 

May 7, 2024 

SUBJECT: Closing Memo (1-22-226 

On April 4, 2024, the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) Office of Inspector General (OIG) received a 
referral from Lorielle Pankey, Designated Agency Ethics Official (DAEO), Office of General Counsel 
(OGC), regar in a ossibl violation of 18 S 208(a), Acts Affecting a Personal Financial 

Interest, by (b)(6) Western Region Los Angeles (WRLA). According 
to OGC's referral memorandum,...,,..,. __ - ontacted the ethics team on February 13, 2024, to 

q
btain 

advice about a p • ' • stigations ofl (b)(7)(A) J 
(b)(7)(A) in the (b}(7)(A) • d a 

1v1 vestigative Demand (CID) recipienO,�--------���------_......J 
(FTC no. 232-3064), while holding stock in (b}(7)(A) a CID recipient. 

According to the Ethics Team, whil working on Cb\C6
...,
a=n=n=......., 

February 1 \..2.D2i4, remembered that (b)(6) eld stock m (b)(7)(A) nd (b)(7)(A) (b)(6) 
realized that�ad participated in t e mvest1gat10n of (b)(7)(A) nd (b)(7)(A) n 1mme 1ate y 

lso 

contacte�cs Teamfur....ad.Yife. On February 16, thics earns, after a brief review, 
advised �o recus�om both matters, which (bjC6 id that same day. 

Ms�confirmed thatl<l;lwas one of two supervisors on the (b)(7)(A) and (b)(7)(A) 
mat�at�b�(�egan wor ng on both matters on or around June 20, 2023. Ms. (b)(6) lso 
confirmed that s et with the investigation team, provided feedback to staff, and also reviewed and 
approved staff CID acka es for Commission review. Finally, the memorandum specifies that 
I (b)(6) hock in (b)(7)(A) andl (b)(7)(A) �xceeded the de minimis $15,000 exception and that she 
did not request or 06 am a waiver to participate in the matters in which she had a fmancial interest in 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 208(b)(l )  and (3). 

OGC's referral memorandum contains an analysis o� (b)(6) fonduct with respect to § 208, which 
states that "whoever, being an . . .  employee of the execuuve branch ... participates personally and 
substantially as a Government officer or employee ... in a . . .  particular matter in which, to his 
knowledge, he has a financial interest- s hall be subject to the penalties set forth in section 216 of this 
title." This rule would apply to (b)(6) ho would be considered an imputed person. I 
Chapter 5, CFR § 2640.103(a) prov1 es a 1 1ona etail on the statutory interpretation of § 208, 
including exemptions and waivers, and it states the prohibition applies if the paiticular matter will have 
a direct and predictable effect on that interest." 

I 

) 

d g o e 

I (b){6) 

rential conflict a, mterest reea~m• the FTC s IDV't . -. 
thP te:iraPt nfthP 1nvP<::hoe:ih.Qll...al} 

•->1-ul (b)(7)(A) I 

r l 

~ dct~t-~1....,.f 

I J 
......________,,...........~ 
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OGC determined that all the elements of a violation of§ 208(a) were established and that no waiver or 
exemption was applicable tq (b)(6) �ituation. OGC also recommended that the OIG consider 
several mr

tigj
ng factors they identified, including that�appeared 

r
nuinelv re

j
orseful 

regarding (b(<6 actions which were careless and unintenti� they were_ (b)(6) _ stock 
holdings; was very cooperative and forthcoming with the OGC Ethics Team, whom she immediately 
contacted upon learning of the potential conflict; did not pa1ticipate on these matters for financial 
benefit; and immediately recused herself from the matter. 

On April 22, 2024, AIGI Rosengart provided I (b)(6) !Trial Attorney, Public Integrity Section 
(PIN), Department of Justice (DOJ), via email, with a c�OIG's Investigative Plan, which 
outlined the possible violation of 18 u.s.c. § 208(a) by�On May 6, 2024, I (b)(6) responded, 
via email that in this instance, there appears to be a genuine lack of knowledge of tlie mvestments at 
issue by·� Moreover (b)(6) d that all mitigating factors identified in the Investigative Plan, 
especial�y were not (b)(6) • nvestments, counsel against treating this as a criminal matter. 

In light of the declination by DOJ and our concurring with OGC's recommendation in its refe1rnl, the 
OIG has concluded its investigative efforts. This matter is now closed. 

Approved: 

Andrew Katsaros, Inspector General 
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FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20580 

October 15, 2024 
MEMORANDUM 

TO: 
FROM: 

Andrew Katsaros Inspector General 
Noel Rosengart Assistant Inspector General for Investigations 

SUBJECT: Closing Memo (1-24-230) 
On September 4, 2024, the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) Office of Inspector General (OIG) received a referral from Lorielle Pankey, Designated Agency Ethics Official (DAEO), Office of General Counsel (OGC), regardin a ossible violation of 18 U.S.C. 208 a Acts Affecting a Personal 

Financial Interest, by (b)(6) Officer of the Director, Bureau of Competition. According to OGC's referral memorandum (b)(6) on February 26, 2024, emailed Craig Bannon, Assistant DAEO, OGC, to confirm whetherl<�!<�ad a conflict in connection with seekin outside em lo ment and his work on an FTC liti ation matter challen in a (b)(7)(A) (b)(7)(A) (b)(7)(A) 
_.!...!;.l=�-���.!.!.!..:i=:..?....!.�LL!.t...i...L!..��Lli!..lc......Lll 6"'"-=2..i.0�2.;;i;.4...__..:..<b.:.:.)(6..:.)___.�=�w!..!.!;ith the I (b)(6) �-----�b�out possible employment as ...,,a""'n---:aC"":l"".":Ju=n::-cccr-c:p=ro=e=ss::-:o=r-. r--=�Tl:"":T""':1-::-::-:'----:r'.=c:--:r-:=::--:-:cC""TIC-,,-te (b)(7)(A) of which (b)(6) was the lead liti ation attorne served an initial witness list statin that a (b)(7)(D) (b)(7)(D) (b)(7)(A) 

(b)(7)(A) 
(b)(7)(A) (b)(7)(A) 

(b)(7)(A) 

(b)(6) 

On February 26, 2024, I (b)(6) rmailed Bannon requesting a meeting to discussl(b)(6)ponflicts question and scheduled a follow-up call with (b)(7)(A) or February 27. On February 27, Bannon advised (b)(6) that�might have a conflict because b)(6 as seeking employment with I (b)(6) as directly involved in the (b)(7)(A) As a result, I (b)(6) �mmed1ately recused 

7 

I 
I 

l 

l 

p y 

1 

g 

g p 

g 

(b)(6) 

Later uiat uay, ue1enuants m tn 
Y, 

(5)(6) 

g g r 

l .... n _t"\1rt:J. 

g 
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(b)(6) from the Matter, including
�

ICb/<6�all wit� (b)(7)(A) �hat was scheduled for shortly 
after (b)C6 all with Bannon. Finally, (b)(6) id not request or obtain a waiver to participate in the 
matters in whicfflad a financia mterest m pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 208(b)( l )  and (3). 
OGC's referral memorandum contains an analysis o� (b)(6) Jconduct with respect to § 208, which 
states that "whoever, being an ... employee of the executive branch ... participates personally and 
substantially as a Government officer or employee ... in a ... particular matter in which, to his 
knowledge, he has a financial interest- [s]hall be subject to the penalties set forth in section 216 of this 
title." OGC determined that all the elements of a violation of § 208(a) were established and that no 
waiver or exemption was applicable to I (b)(6) I situation. OGC also recommended that no adverse 
action be taken against I (b)(6) las this matter appeared to be a careless violation of a technical law 
rather than the result of any criminal intent. OGC also asked that the OIG consider several mitigating 
factors they identified, including thatl (b)(6) �ho may have acted carelessly, quickly sought ethics 
guidance and was forthcoming and cooperative. Additionally, I (b)(6) �mmediately recused I (b)(6) 
from the matter after DAEO Bannon advised that� may have a conflict. 

On September 9, 2024, AIGI Rosengart provided I (b)(6) public Integrity 
Section (PIN), Department of Justice (DOJ), via email, with a 

l
opy oft

r 
OIG's Investigative Plan, 

which outlined the possible violation of 18 U.S.C. § 208(a) by (b)(6) On October 15, 2024, (b)(6) 
responded, via email, that from her review of the OIG's referral report, it appears that (b)(6) 1 not 
have the requisite knowledge under 208 to predicate a criminal investigation in the matter. (b)(6) 
further stated that, "Specifically,� appears to have self-reported the potential conflict very qmc y after 
realizing thatl(rt lmay have an interest in a matter in which there was pending litigation and immediately 
recused himse upon advice. This indicates that, prior to that and when �as involved in the matter, 

IC�lqdid not have knowledge of1Cb/<61financial interest in the matter, which would be required for a criminal matter. Without an indication of that requisite inte�t,Fd in light of the mitigating factors further 
identified by the OGC in the report, including that C�;C uickly sought guidance and was forthcoming and 
cooperative, we would counsel against treatment o t is as a criminal matter." 

In light of the declination by DOJ and our concurring with OGC's recommendation in its referral, the 
OIG has concluded its investigative efforts. This matter is now closed. 

Approved: 

Andrew Katsaros, Inspector General 

_] 
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Office of Inspector General 

MEMORANDUM 
TO: Andrew Katsaros 

Inspector General 

FROM: Noel Rosengart 

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20580 

Assistant Inspector General for Investigations 
NOEL 

ROSENGART 

(b)(6) 

Investigator (b)(6) 
ate: 2024.09.05 08:23:08 -05'00' ._ ________ _. 

SUBJECT: Closing Memo (1-23-216) 

August 28, 2024 

Digitally signed by NOEL 
ROSENGART 
Date: 2024.08.28 15:17:18 
-04"00' 

On November 28, 2022, Noel Rosengart, Assistant Inspector General for Investi ations. Federal Trade 
Commission (FfC) Office of Inspector General (010), was contacted by (b)(6) pecial Agent, 
Department of Defense 010, Defense Criminal Investigative Services (DCIS), requesting assistance in 
the identification and production of various Consumer Sentinel Network (CSN) Identity Theft (IDT) 
Reports and analysis of certain Internet Protocol (IP) addresses related to an ongoing investigation. 
Specifically, SA�requested that the FfC 010 confirm and produce various IDT reports and also 
identify certain I�ses with corresponding IDT reports purportedly associated with the subject of 
his investigation, Alpha Orne a Mayhue. The FTC OIG subsequently complied with S� (b)(6) I 
request and counseled SA (b)(6) n the uses and capabilities of CSN. 

According to s.Aj (b)(6) I from February 2018 to March 2021, Mayhue, who served in the United States 
Army (Army) with his victims, stole and used their personally identifiable information to harass and 
stalk them over their employment-related grievances and actions against him, which led to his discharge. 
Mayhue also impersonated the victims and conducted numerous unauthorized transactions with banks, 
credit unions, the FfC, and other entities, including subjecting victims to economic injury. Finally, 
Mayhue cyberstalked one victim, subjecting her to sexual threats claiming he was following her. 

On January 31, 2024, Mayhue was indicted on: one count of conspiracy to commit identity theft, 18 
U.S.C. § 1028(f); seven counts of misuse of a Social Security number, 42 U.S.C. § 408(a)(7)(B); seven 
counts of aggravated identity theft, 18 U.S.C. § 10328A(b); twenty-one counts of false statements, 18 
U.S.C. § 1001(a)(3); and one count of cyberstalking, 18 U.S.C. §226l(A)(2)(B). 

On July 9, 2024, Mayhue pled guilty to all counts except five violations of 18 U.S.C. 1028A(b), which 
were dismissed. Mayhue's total maximum and mandatory minimum sentence was 152 years of 

g 

,______,P 

i itall signed by I (b)(6) I 
(b)(6) 
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imprisonment, a mandatory two-year sentence of imprisonment, a three-year term of supervised release, 
a $7,775,000 fine, and a $3,100 special assessment Each false statement count carried a term of five 
years of imprisonment, a three-year term of supervised release, a $250,000 fine, and a $100 special 
assessment on each count. For all 21 false statement counts, the total is 105 years of imprisonment, three 
years of supervised release, a $5,250,000 fine, and a $2,100 special assessment Finally, Mayhue's 
sentencing is scheduled for October 24, 2024. 

The case was investigated by DCIS and the Federal Deposit Insurance Company OIG, with assistance 
from the Social Security Administration and Federal Trade Commission OIGs, and prosecuted by 
Assistant United States Attorney Josh A Davison, Eastern District of Pennsylvania. 

As a result of the guilty pleas by Mayhue, the OIG has concluded its investigative efforts. This matter is 
now closed. 

Approved: 

Andrew Katsaros, Inspector General 
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FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20580 

September 24, 2024 
MEMORANDUM 

TO: Andrew Katsaros 
Inspector General 

FROM: Noel Rosengart 
Assistant Inspector General for Investigations 

SUBJECT: Closing Memo (1-19-207) 

On August 7, 2020, the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) Office of Ins ector General 
re uest for assistance from (b)(6) S ecial A ent, (b)(6) 

(b)(6) ursuant to their 
(b)(7)(A) 

(b)(6) tated that she believed that 

SAi (b)(6) !further advised the FTC OIG thatl 

(b)(7)(A) 

(b)(7)(A) 

(b)(7)(A) 

(b)(7)(A) 

(b)(7)(A) I As a result SA.I (b)(6) teauested that the FTC OH.ii 

(b)(7)(A) 

I 

(b)(7)(A) I 

D 



Approved: 

FOIA-2025-01312 00000069161 

(b)(7)(A) 

Andrew Katsaros, Inspector General 

"UNCLASSIFIED" 4/29/2025 
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FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 
OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL 

REPORT OF INVESTIGATION 

ALLEGATION OF POTENTIAL VIOLATION OF OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
AND BASIC OBLIGATION OF PUBLIC SERVICE BY CURRENT FTC EMPLOYEE 

Case No. 1-24-221 

ORIGINAL 

June 27, 2024 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE 

This Office of Inspector General report is intended solely for the official use of the Federal Trade 
Commission or component thereof, or any agency or organization receiving a copy directly from 
the Office oflnspector General. No secondary distribution may be made outside the Federal Trade 
Commission or component thereof, by it or other agencies or organizations, in whole or in part, 
without prior authorization by the Inspector GeneraL Public availability of the document will be 
determined under the U.S. Code, 5 U.S.C. 552. 
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UNTTED STATES OF AMERICA 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20580 

REPORT OF INVESTIGATION 

I-24-221 

4/29/2025 

Allegation of Potential Violation of Outside Employment 
Agreement and Basic Obligation of Public Service 

(b)(6) I Investigator 
Noel Rosenga1t, Assistant Inspector General for 
Investigations 

i: .... I -----------

(

-

b)

-

(6

-

) 

------------' 

PREPARED BY: 
NOEL 

Noel Rosengart & I (b)(6) ROSENGART :;;;-,�"';;n.�:-
. i itall signed b� (b)(6) I June 27, 2024 

(b)(6) (b)(6) 
.__ ________ ate: 2024.06.27 17:13:26 -05'00' 

This Office oflnspector General Report is intended solely for the official use of the Federal 
Trade Commission or component thereof, or any agency or organization receiving a copy 
directly from the Office of Inspector General. No secondary distribution may be made outside 
the Federal Trade Commission, or component thereof, by it or by other agencies or 
organizations, in whole or in part, without prior authorization by the Inspector General. Public 
availability of the document will be determined under the U.S. Code, 5 U.S.C. 552. 
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Investigators with the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) Office oflnsnector General (OJG) 
identified that FTC employee I · (b)(6) 

�ureau • • • • • r Disaster Loan (EIDL) for a 
�s named (b)(7)(A) (b)(6) ·eceived an EIDL 

advance of $1,000 ut was u t1mate y twice eme t.,;,,.......,,.. ........ "-4-

Business Administration (SBA) could not veri ........,.�__,..., existed and was an eligible 
siness. Further, on the EIDL application, (b)(6) was 1ste as the Chief Executive Officer of 

(b)(7)(A) however, (b)(6) 
• ave an approveo outside employment request reflecting her 

act1v1tles associate w1 (b)(7)(A) As such, OIG investigators requested and received all 
available documents relate to (b)(6) pproved outside employment with the FTC and EIDL 
application from the SBA. Taken toget 

I 
er, th is

l 
documentation indicated potential criminal and 

administrative violations committed by (b)(6) 

Accordingly, on October 18, 2023, the OIG opened an investigation to detennine whether� 
engaged in outside employment activity without prior OGC approval, fraudulently submitted an 
EIDL application, and im ro erly received a $1,000 EIDL advance. The OIG's investigation 
included interviewing (b)(6) nd reviewing relevant evidence. 

II. Background 

(b)(6) 

On Aoril 2, 2020,I (b)(6) !applied for an EIDL loan with SBA forl:l(61business, (b)(7)(A) I 
I (b)(7)(A) I providmg personal information such as name, date of 1rth, Social Secunty number, 
persona mobile hone number, personal em • and home address as part of the 
application .. 1 (b)(6) also provided SBA with (b)(7)(A) usiness info1mation • • a business 
address of 42 tate Road 7, Lauderdale Lakes, FL 33319, and a claim that (b)(7)(A) rossed 
$100 350 in revenue in the year prior to the pandemic. 2• 3 • , as part of tfie app 1cation, 
�laimed to be Chief Executive Officer (CEO) o (b)(7)(A) olding 100% ownership of the 
company.4 From�IDL application and suppo1tmg ocumentation, OIG established the 
following timelin�ts relevant to our investigative findings: 

(b)(7)(A) • On March 6, 2019 (b)(6) • ncorporatedl 
• On April 6, 2020, (b)(6) hied a 20 I 9 .

... , -------
(b
-

)(

-
7)

-
(A
-

) 

------1 

1 Attachment 1 :  EIDL Intake application Form, April 2, 2020. 
2 Specifically, SBA asked applicants to enter gross revenues for the twelve-month period prior to the date of the 
disaster (January 31 ,  2020). 
3 Attachment 1 .  
4 Attachment 1 .  �� 
5 Attachment 2: (b)(7)(A) ecretary of State Division of Corporations subpoena return dated March 22, 2024, in 
response to OIG u poena dated February 27, 2024. 
6 Attachment 3 :  Elec

_ �
rooic Articles of Incomoratioo roJ (b)(7)(A) I 

7 Attachment 4: 201 � (b)(7)(A) 

2 
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• On April 26, 2020, SBA approved a $1,000 emergency EIDL advance tol (b)(7)(Al �d 
dispersed it the following day. 8 

• On May 28, 2020, SBA denied�EIDL application, citing (b)(7)(Al s an 
"unverifiable business. ".9 

• On Se tember 25, 2020, thel (bl(7l(Al !administratively dissolved 
(b)(7)(Al or failure to file an annual report .. 10,. 11 

• n cto er 12, 2020, SBA logged a letter from[��}n which she requested SBA 
reconsider the denial. 12• 1 3  ---� 

• On September 6, 2021, SBA denied�EIDL reconsideration request, citing (b)(7)(Al 
as an "ineligible business.". 14 

On February 15, 2024, OIG �ators interviewed�ursuant to the OIG's 
ative investigation.�as repre

�
flieriiiferview byl<b�<61counsel,I (bl(6l I 

sq. On May 15, 2024, the OIG sent (b)(6) hrough l<b/<61 counsel, written inte1rngatories 
q�onses be provided no later t an ay 29, 2024 .. 1 5  On May 29, 2024, the OIG 

receive�esponse to the written interrogatories .. 1 6  

III. Potential Violations 

• 5 C.F.R. § 2635.101-Basic Obligations of Public Service 
• FTC Administrative Manual, Chapter 5: Section 300-Standards of Conduct 
• 18 U.S.C. § 1343-Wire Fraud 
• 18 U.S.C. § 1001-False Statements 
• 5 C.F.R. § 5701.101-Prior Approval for Outside Employment 
• 5 C.F.R. § 2635. 704-Use of Government Property 
• FTC Administrative Manual, Chapter 1: Section 310-Appropriate Use of Information 

Technology- B. Prohibited Use 

IV. Investigative Findings and Analysis 

Fraudulent EIDL Loan Application 

The OIG reviewed documentary evidence supporting that �ubmitted a fraudulent loan 
application to obtain money that was intended to provide finaricii1 assistance to small businesses 
that experienced substantial economic injury during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

8 Attachment 5: SBA Rapid Finance Application Detail for Application #330178661 . See page 9. 
9 Attachment 6: SBA Denial Letter dated May 28, 2020. 
10 As of the date of this report, (b)(7)(A) is still inactive, according to the I (b)(7)(A) !website. 
1 1  Attachment 7: (b)(7)(A) Detail by Entity Report. 
12 Attachment 5. 
13 Account comments made by SBA on August 17, 2020, note I"-'"""...._, stated she submitted this reconsideration 
request on August 10, 2020. The SBA representative informed 

......... ......,, 
e aid not yet see the request but annotated the 

account. SBA logged the request into the account notes on Octo er , 2020. 
14 Attachment 8: SBA Denial Letter dated September 6, 2021. 
15 Attachment 9: ��est for Written interrogatories Responses. 
16  Attachment 10:�ritten Interrogatories Response. 

3 

~ 
~F 

tl,,,.I /h 1(6) I 
I (b)(6) n 



Office of Inspector General Reoort oflnvestiQation 
FOIIS:-2025-01312 00000069161 

Case Number I-24-221 
"UNCLASSIFIED" 4/29/2025 

EIDL Application, Reconsideration Request, and SBA Denials 

On April 2, 2020,�applied fi.,._._........_......µ-,L (b)(?)(A) 17  After reviewin --.-�......---, oan 
application, the sBAtwfce denied (b)(6) �-..-.,,._.the loan. 1 8  In the first denia , cited 
"one or more items that were reviewe t at cause t e SBA to question the vali.i"""'-"..._....,certain 
information" su�ted as pait of the application .. 19 After receivin that denial, (b)(6) ·equested 
SBA reconsider �pplication and attem

l
ted

�
o correct what (b�(5 described as "an issue 

with the address m which the address on (b)(6) river's license 1 not match (b�(6 ome address 
(listed on the EIDL application) .. 20•.21 SBA again declined to offer the loan because they were 
unable to verify the existence ofl (b)(?)(A) �s a business eligible to receive an EIDL Joan, noting it 
was unsuccessful in obtaining �"""""........_uiation from either public records, or l (b)(6) I that 
would validate the existence o (b)(7)(A) 2 

In addition to the two loan denial letters sent by SBA to (b)(6) OIG reviewed account notes, 
including various comments entered by SBA personnel on (b)(6) s EIDL application report. 
Between Aprilr2--2,Q2p, the date of the initial application, an eptember 6, 2021, the date of the 
second denial, �called the SBA at least 10 times to request updates on the status of the loan 
or to provide additional information to the SBA in support of the application. 23 After one such 
call on August 31, 2021, an SBA staff member entered the following note in the application 
comment log: 

17 Attachment I .  
1 8  Attachments 6 and 8. 
19 Attachment 6. 
20 Attachment 5. 
21 Satine Interview. 
22 Attachment 8. 
23 Attachment 5. 
24 This SBA employee was referring to the following documents he requested froml(b}(6)by email: a recent phone 
bill, a recent bank statement, current residential utility bill showing name and addre�an explanation as to why 
her residence is in �but her business is in I (b)(6) I 
25 Attachment 5. 
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I (bl(6l !statement to SBA about getting (b)(7)(Al mail £ rded from the I (b)(6) business 
address to (b)(6) (b)(6) home address di ere om what (b)(6) old the OIG, which was that! (b)(6) I 

,..Lll=-lll.LL, know how (b)(6) eceives the mail sent to the (b)(6) ddress. 26 When asked by the OIG if 
as • ·n usmess durin the 2020 tax year (b)(6) replied that l:;<6J-id not know and 

a so c aimed (b)(6) id not know (b)(7)(Al ad b.......,..&...QJUJ..jlimstratively dissolve . _ 7 Finally, when 
asked if (b)(7l(Al as operationa o 1s day (bl(6l 'nitially said "yes" but later i�at is a 
question or e management.....,_'-LLL.I.......,_...,," not b)(6) OIG found i

i 
imp

�
ausible that �he 

owner, CEO, and President o (b)(7)(Al ould not answer whether (b)(6) wn company was m 
business at the timel (b�6) lctmitt....r.TTT"T....-.ntinued to submit documents m support of obtaining 
financial relief throug an EIDL from SBA. 

Fabricated Business Address 

, �could not even answer basic questions about I (b)(6) I at 
(b)(6) iew. This included, but was not limited to: the purpose and descnpt10n of the property, 

(bl(6l hose to rent t
e

roperty, the monthly rent of the property, the property landlord, how 
(bl(6l ece1ved mail since (b)(6) lived i� (b)(6) I whethe (bl(6l was ever present at the property, ifl(b)(6) I 
shared the property wit o er tenants, etc .. 34 Of note, (b)(6) ould not even • h 
although a resident ofl (b)(6) jwell prior o e mcorporation of (b)(7)(Al (b)(6) 
nonetheless chose to incorporate and operate a business physically located in 
I (b)(6) I ,.__ _____ __, 

:�nterview. 

2s Id. 
29 Attachment I .  

J1 (b )(6) �nterv1ew. 
3> Attachment 2. 
3�lnterview. 
35� 

(b)(6); (b)(7)(A) 
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,...li:L0..1:uain.Jtllrlther...ul.1.o.rma1J.J:m...abtllll�('.:'..!b)�(7fx.)(A�)_J1.SSJ::l.C.l.a.1l.J:m...1£l..Jthe....l:lond.a.a.d.Jire.s.s.....1J,II G contacted 
(b)(7)(A) the 

commercia property owner, to ascertam w et er (b)(7)(A) l),<.Lll<.L.JL.lo<.1.11�"' or mamtamecl a h sical 
resence at this address. 36 In response to an IG su poena, the (b)(7)(A) f 

(b)(7)(A) provided the OIG with the o 

(b)(6) never e ecuted a lease 
n 3 (b)(7)(A) and/or 

(b)(7)(A) never rented space or maintained a physical presence at (b)(7)(A) 
(b)(7)(A) 

(b)(7)(C) 

(b)(7)(A) 

the OIG determined tha (b)(7)(A) never leased, nor maintained a physi-,..w.....L.1.L....,.,�e atl(b)(7)(A) I 
(b)(7)(A) despite providing this address as lace of 

, 0 0, EIDL Loan Application. 

1. Violation of the Basic Obligations of Public Service 

Federal Ethics Regulations, 5 C.F.R. § 2635.l0 l(a), set forth the general principles of ethical 
conduct for government employees by establishing that "public service is a public trust" and 
states that: 

[to] ensure that every citizen can have complete confidence in the integrity of the Federal 
Government, each employee shall respect and adhere to the principles of ethical conduct 
set fo1th in this section ... 

Of the fourteen general provisions of Section 2635.101, are requirements that employees "place 
loyalty to the Constitution, laws and ethical principles above private gain" 38 and "shall endeavor 
to avoid any actions creating the

�
nce that they are violating the law or the ethical 

standards set forth in this part.''.3 (b)(6) placed private gain over loyalty to the Constitution, law 
and ethical principles by creating t e appearance that she was defrauding the federal government 
through EIDL fraud, in violation of Principle 1 and Principle 14. 

The OIG substantiated that aspects of (b)(6); (b)(7)(A) business activity andl:\(6,fraudulent EIDL 
application and subsequent acceptance o an a vance of $1,000 from the SB v10lated these 
basic obligations of public service. 

36 Attachment 1 1 :  OIG Subpoena dated May 8, 2024. 
37 Attachment 12: Response to OIG Subpoena dated May 23, 2024, fro� (b)(7)(C) I 
38 See 5 C.F.R. § 2635. I0I(b)(l). 
39 Whether particular circumstances create an appearance that the law or these standards have been violated shall be 
determined from the perspective of a reasonable person with knowledge of the relevant facts. id. at § 
2635.l0l(b)(l4). 
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2. Wire Fraud 

The federal wire fraud statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1343 prohibits using or causing the use of"wire, 
radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce" for the purposes of 
executing a scheme to defraud or to obtain money by false or fraudulent pretenses. 4° For 
purposes of this statute, forms of electronic communications include wire, radio, television, or 
even text messaging, emails, or telephone calls. To prove a violation of Section 1343, the 
following elements must be met: (1) that the defendant voluntarily and intentionally devised or 
participated in a scheme to defraud another out of money; (2) that the defendant did so with the 
intent to defraud; (3) that it was reasonably foreseeable that interstate wire communications 
would be used; and (4) that interstate wire communications were in fact used. 41 

The OIG also substantiated that� violated Section 1343 by calling the SBA and using the 
internet to submit information and documents to the SBA in furtherance of <��;l audulent EIDL 
application. S ecifically, between April 2, 2020, and September 9, 2021, the OIG identified 
evidence that (b)(6) 1) called SBA at least ten times to request u dates on the status of the loan 
or to provide additional info1mation to the SBA in support o (b)(7)(A) EIDL application; and 2) 
used the internet to access the SBA portal and provide at least fifteen documents to SBA also in 
support ofl (b)(7)(A) � EIDL application. 42 

False Statements 

18 U.S.C. § 1001 prohibits a person knowingly and willfully making false statements or 
representations, falsifying, concealing, or covering up material facts. This statute prohibits 
knowingly and willfully making false or fraudulent statements, or concealing information in 
"any matter within the jurisdiction" of the Federal government of the United States, even by 
merely denying guilt when asked by a federal agent. Finally, false statements can be verbal or in 
writing and do not have to be made under oath to violate this statute .. 43 

The OIG substantiated that I (b)(6l �iolated Section 1001 when, in written response to OI 
interrogatories, <�1i denied making two specific withdrawal transactions from the (b)(7)(A) 
business checking account.. 44 

Transaction L 45 

• Date: July 8, 2020 
• Total Amount: $7,904 

oCashier's Check for $5,861 payable to the United States Treasury 
oCashier's Check for $2,043 payable to "Department of Taxation" 

40 1 8  U.S.C. § 1343. 
41 Id. 
42 Attachment 5. 
43 1 8  U.S.C. § 1001. 
44 On June 9, 2024, AUSAI (b)(6) I EDYA, notified the OIG that it would not open a case to prosecute the § 
I 00 I violation. 
45 Attachment 13 :  Bank of America Customer Withdrawal Image dated July 8, 2020. 
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• Date: May 14, 2021 
• Total Amount: $10,770 
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oCashier's Check for $7,877 payable to the Internal Revenue Service 
o Cashier's Check for $2,516 payable to VA Department of Taxation 
oCashier's Check for $377 payable to Comptroller of Maryland 

Specifically, in the May 15, 2024, writte • •• ogatories sent to � the OIG provided the 
dates and transaction amounts an (b)(6) to provide detail�rcumstances of the two 
withdrawals. In response to both, (b)(6) stated "I did not make this transaction.".47 However, 
evidence fron:L..tianJLO.t..8..illfm.c:.a....s.n..o.:13ls....lh;fil..112li[fiL.Jmad.f:.....rul1.hmLD£ac.tlilllLS......:lll..J:lerSillL.a1.the Bank 
of America½"""--.-------------------;---i------'For both 
transactions, (b)(6) complete�ritten withdrawal slips on whic (b)(6) signed her name. 48 As 
such, the OIG etermined that�willfully made false statements to mvestigators when� 
claimed to have not made both transactions when in fact,l<b(<6ldid. 

Lack of Candor 

At (b)(6) IG interview,�outinely could not answer rudi1µ.i;;;.LI.L<lLJ..ll...+1Uestions posed by the OIG about (b)(6l IDL loan a\iimcarlon or the business ope • (b)(?Ml and insrd�epeatedly 
.J�'�"..u'"'=r•�d with "I don't know," or "I can't recall.".4 (b)(6) also to IG that (b;(6 stablished 

(b)(?)(A) o et "acknowledgement" and "recognition" for (b((6 contributions to the music industry 
and that bl(6 did not benefit financially, other than receiving approximately $500 for performing 
�tratlve tasks such as answering e • 50 wever, OIG found evidence suggesting that 
�as signific

r
tly

p
involved in both (b)(?)(A) IDL application process and business 

operations and that (b)(6) enefited financially from the company. As such, the OIG substantiated 
thatl (b)(6) �eked candor durin�(b;<6IOIG interview. 

The OIG reviewed evidence showing that� between April 2 2020, the date of the initial 
application, and September 6, 2021, the date of the final denial, (b)(6) rovided various 
supporting documents to the SBA and called the SBA at le 1mes to request status updates 
or to rovide information .. 51 This refutes�aim tha (b)(6) ad little involvement in 

(b)(7)(A) IDL application process after��enial on ugust 27, 2020, other than to 
u I co1Tect address by submitting a copy offldriver's license with l(b)(6)�urrent address. 

Also, throughout her interview,8epeatedly disavowed anY. si nificant involvement or 
knowledge of the day-to-day busmess or financial operations of b 7 A instead statin that the 
mana ement com an handled business o erations and (b)(6) 

(b)(6) handled all accounting and IRS-relat�d 
decisions o (b)(6) ehalf, including filin (b)(7)(A) 019 tax returns. 52 Despit� (b)(6) jssertions 

46 Attachment 14: Bank of America Customer Withdrawal Image dated May 14, 2021 .  
47 Attachment I 0. ::
8
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thatB,vas uninvolved inl (b)(?)(A) j (b)(6) pame and/or signature appeared on various business­
related documents, including: 

• I (b)(7)(A) !Articles of Incorporation; 53 

_ • IRS forms filed 4506-T Request for Transcript of Tax Return; '4 

• I (b)(7)(A) !business checking account signature card; and.55 

• Schedule of Liabilities (Notes, Mortgages, and Accounts Payable) fo� (b)(7)(A) r 

During l<b)(6l[nterviewj (b)(6) �tated thatl (b)(?)(A) �as established to gain ackno,,..u...Ll...i.u...iquent for 
�ontributions to the music industr and not to make mone .. 57 Re ardless (b)(6) pened a 
�ness checking account for (b)(7)(A) n March 25, 2019, in (b)(6) ith an initial 
deposit of $129 .00. 58 That same day, (b;(6 signed the business signature cards for the (b)(7)(A) 
checking account as the sole account signatory and "President" o (b)(7)(A) .59 

afurther contradictedl(b�6)�ssertion that the business was only established to receive 
recognition" or "credit" by 1scussing the need for financial re.lief from the SBA to keep the 

company afloat during Covid. When OIG asked I (b)(6) fhat the EIDL loan proceeds would be 
used for, l(bi(6lstated: 

So essentially when it was advised by the team, you know, the managing company and 
the, the CPA, because it was COVID at the time, they weren't sure - I guess for­
because all the venues were going to  be shut down and there were, like, the licensing 
fees weren't going to get paid because none of the music - you know, a lot of the -
everything was closed, so there wasn't - where was a concern whether or not the 
business was going to stay afloat or - and so it was kind of advised that maybe it would 
beneficial to do the loan .. 60 

�also told OIG that beyond "infrequent times" that (b)(6) om letes "like an administrative 
task, like maybe answer

m
· n an email or something" for w 1c (b)(6) eceived "probably like less 

than $500 for the year" (b? did not benefit financially from the com any .. 61 However, between 
March 25, 2019, and Marc 25, 2024, bank statements for the (b)(7)(A) checking account show 
$957,297.69 in deposits to the account and $935,703.03 in wit rawa s from the account. 62 

Most of the funds withdrawn from the I (b)(7)(A) !checking account were sent by transfer to 
I (b)(7)(A) )I thou h it is unknown if (b)(6) received any of those funds, the 
OIG located a transfer from the (b)(7)(A) hecking account to (b)(6) for: (1) $2,500 on April 29, 

53 Attachment 3. 
:4 Attachment 15 • -T digitally signed by �n April 21 ,  2021. 

� 
'
5 Attachment 16 (b)(7)(A) business checking account signature card signed b (b)(6) on March 25, 2019. 

56 ttachment 17: orm 2202 (10-15), Schedule of Liabilities, digitally signe y Satine on March 24, 2021. 
57 (b)(6) nterview. 
58 Attac ment I I . 
59 ttachment 6. 
60 (b)(6) Interview. 
61 

62 Attachment 18:  (b  )(7)(A) Bank of America Business Checking Account Statements, March 2019 through March 
2024. 
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r2,Q..1,9, 63 exceeding the "less than $500" (b)(B • ed to have received�inistrative tasks 
�ompl

a 
President and CEO of (b)(7)(A) When OIG asked �bout this 

transaction (b)(6) tated it was "performe o pay axes" 65 which if true, further contradicts her 
purported lac of knowledge about the routine business of (b)(7)(A) 

Failure to Obtain Prior Approval for Outside Employment 

The FTC's supplemental ethics regulations require that all FTC employees ( other than 
Commissioners) obtain the written approval of their supervisors and the Designated Agency 
Ethics Officer (DAEO) before engaging in any outside employment, whether or not for 
compensation. 66 The regulation defines "employment" as "any fo1m of non-Federal employment 
or business relationship involving the provision of personal services by the employee, whether or 
not for compensation", including personal services as an officer, director, general partner, or 
trustee. The FTC Administrative Manual expands on the FTC supplemental regulations, 
explaining that "'employment' is broadly defined" and includes personal and professional 
services to any person or entity for compensation, and personal services to a for-profit entity, 
whether or not for compensation. 67 

iolated the FTC supplemental regulations and Administrative 
,.J.LL'-LU.l.w.1...vY serving as an o,_1c_e_r...,...,,.......,O) of and operating a for-profit music production company, 

(bJi7)(Al for which�received compensation, since at least March 
1

6, 201
,. 

without approval 
from either (b)(6) isor or the DAEO. Evidence establ

�
- t (b)(6) provided personal 

services to (b)(7)(A) y op • business includes: 1) (b)(6) BA EIDL application and 
supporting ocuments; 2) (b)(7)(A) tate of Florida Artie es o ncorpora • s listing her 
as CEO; 3�ebruary , 24, OIG interview testimony; and 4) (b)(7)(A) ank of 
America c�count records. 

A (b)(6) IG interview�upon being asked to list al
�

side employmen�as engaged in 
sine (b)(6) began emr,,..LL.l=.........,t at the FTC, only disclosed b�(5 ast employment1ar"ivracy's. 68 OGC 
recor s mdicate tha (b)(B) ubmitted an FTC Form 474 or employment at Macy's and received 
approval on July 18, 1'"->'--"-"'-'-� Furthermore, in response to a follow-up tion regarding other 
outside employment, (b)(6) tated that there were no other busine (b)(B as been engaged in 
since begirming em�ment at the FTC. How�when asked i (b)(7)(A) 

�
iness that 

was created and tha�has worked for durin�mployment a e , (b)(6) esponded in 
the affinnative. 70 

When a . (b)(6) terview whyl(b)(6)�id not request approval for (��( outside employment with 
(b)(7)(A) (b)(6) attempted to distingmsh between the nature o (b)(6) ork and employment status 

63 Id. 
64�nterview. 
65� 
66 See 5 C.F.R. § 570 l . l  O 1 .  
67 C Administrative Manual Chapter 5, Section 300, Part 3. 

Interview. 
]�w

.,,.,�--r:li;-iuent 19: OGC Ethics Outside Employment Request Log. 
Interview. 
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Further,r-;;ltold investigators thatf:�<�J
reated QWMP "just t�"""--"4cknowled

m
ent for [my] 

creativit� that - and contributio the music industry." 7 (b)( at (b)(B may have 
been pa· 500 for performing administrative tasks .. 75 Desp1 e (b)(6) tate

) 
reasons for 

creatin an analysis of the business's Bank of America che unt records 
• d' (b)(7)(A) • d d c-. fi c-. h' h� d d • "fi m 1cat 

.....,.."""""",..,.,..,,,.,.. 
as m ee a 1or-pro 1t company 1or w 1c (b)(6) con ucte s1gm 1cant 

busines,,--- v includin revenue eneration in the form o e osits from income sources such 
as (b)(7)(A) d expense 
withdrawals in the form of transfer (b)(7)(A) (b)(7)(A) management company. "f: Drill �)(6) terview, �)(6) noted I 
operates (b)(7)(A) and is (b)(6) oint o contact for management o 

-��-the FTC regu a ions and • ·ve Manual would hav'l'--'-'· .................. "'-f 

th 
n pnor 

supervisory approval becaus (b)(6l erved as an officer o (b)(7)(A) r-profit entity, and 
received compensation from 

approval fo (b)(6) nvolvement • (b)(7)(A) )(6) ailed to obtain such appr�file the 
Although th

�
's regulations an • • trative Manual required that�btain prior 

prerequisite orm FTC-474 .. 79 (b)(6) ustifie er failure to obtain p • proval by stating that 
there was nothing inl<b)(6) pG e 1cs raining that would have alerte (b)(6) (b�(6 needed to seek 
outside employment approv

j' 
for th

l 
type of business conducted by (b)(7)(A) However, an FTC 

ethics official confirmed tha (b)(6) had received multiple OGC ethics tramm sessions on 
outside employment activities pnor to the incorporation and dissolution o (b)(7)(A) 1 OGC 
records indicated tha (b)(6) ttended OGC 2017 Annual Ethics Training ( 1ve on uly 27, 2017 
(in-person) and Decem er , 2021 (virtual) and took OGC Annual Ethics Trainin�nline) on 
November 11, 2018, October 22, 2019, and August 13, 2020, the latter for whic�answered 
the corresponding quiz's questions on outside employment activities .. 82 

11 Id. 
12 Id. 
11 Id. 
14 Id. 
75 Id. 
76 New York De artment of State Division of Co orations records show that 

Attac ment 18. 
78 Satine Interview. 
79

eent 1 1 .  
80 (b)(6) , nterview. 
81 ttac ent 20: OGC Ethics Training document. 
82 Id. 

(b)(7)(A) 
(b)(7)(A) 
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At l<��<I OIG interview,� detaile� "proper channels" l<b)(6l�ent through (b)(6) utside 
employment with Macy's, i�rnseeking and obtaining approval from (b\(6 t en supervisor 
and OGC. 83 Thus, it appears�knew or should have known that rior supervisory and OGC 
approval was required to engage in outside employment. In sum, (b)(6) �arly on notice 
through l(b�(5 Fthics training and prior outside employment with Macy's tha�as required to 
obtain supervisory approval and submit a completed FTC-474 to OGC. 

Misuse of Government Property and Inappropriate Use oflnformation Technology 

C.F.R § 2635.704(a) provides that "[a]n employee has a duty to protect and conserve 
Government property and shall not use such property, or allow its use, for other than authorized 
purposes." Government property includes any form of real or personal property in which the 
Government has an ownership, leasehold, or other property interest and includes office supplies, 
telephones, government issued computers, and other telecommunications equipment and 
services .. 84 The FTC Administrative Manual, which relies on 5 C.F.R. § 2635.704, prohibits 
employees from using government property for any purpose other than official government 
business except for "limited personal use". The "limited personal use" exception, however, 
specifically excludes "[r]unning a personal business or engaging in other 'for-profit' commercial 
activities ... ".85 

The OIG reviewed evidence demonstrating that (b)(6) isused government property, in violation 
of 5 C.F.R § 2635. 704 (Use of Government Property , and FTC Administrative Manual, Chapter 
1: Section 310-Appropriate Use oflnformation Technology-B. Prohibited Use by using her 
FTC-issued computer to digitally sign a fo�then submitted to the SBA in support of 
obtaining the EIDL loan. 

On April 21, 2021, �igitally signed an IRS form 4506-T, Request for Transcript of Tax 
Return .. 86 The Doc�ertificate of Completion (CoC 87 accompanying the electronic 
signature contains a list of "si ner events" showin that (b)(6) di itall si ned while usin a 
device with an (b)(?)(E) 

confirmed that 
(b)(?)(E) The FTC's Chieflnformation Securi 

(b)(?)(E) 

(b)(?)(E) The CISO noted that the IP was 
most likely assigned to "us" (the FTC) but could have been an

�
federal laptop using 

Zscaler in the DC metro area. 89 To rule out the possibility that (b)(6) used a device from a 
federal agency other than the FTC to digitally sign the document, investigators asked 

831(b}(6)1nterview. 
84� 
85 FTC Administrative Manual, Chapter I :  Section 310- Appropriate Use of Information Technology- B. 
Prohibited Use. 
86 Attachment 15. 
87 The CoC provides identifying infonnation about the envelope and complete details of the envelope events. It 
includes details about each signer on the document. This information includes the signer's IP address and other 
identifying infom1ation, signature image, and key event timestamp� 88 Attachment 2 1 :  DocuSign CoC that identified information about�signature on Attachment 15. 
89 Attachment 22: OlG March 15, 2024 email correspondence with Leo Wong, FTC Chieflnformation Security 
Officer. 
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�"At any time between March 2020 through September 2021, have you acc
8

d or used a 
�er issued to you by any govem

�
ncy other than the FTC?" to which (b)(B) replied, 

"No." 90 As such, the OIG deduced tha (b)(B) used her FTC-issued device to sign e oocument 
that l<b;(6�hen provided to the SBA in furt erance of acquiring a fraudulent EIDL loan and 
application. 

V. Conclusion 

The evidence substantiates that �committed the following violations: 

Fraudulent EIDL Loan Application: 

1. Basic Obligation of Public Service, 5 C.F.R 2635.101, Principles 1 and 14 by placing private 
gain over loyalty to the Constitution, law and ethical �iples and creating the a earance 
thatl(b)(6)faS defrauding the federal government when roused a false address for (b)(6) 
business in (b)(B application and requested SBA reconsider the EIDL applicat10n enials 
even though (b)(7)(A) had been dissolved. 

2. Federal Crimma Ire Fraud Statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1343, by making more than ten telephone 
calls to the SB • g the internet to send more than fifteen documents to the SBA in 
furtherance o (b)(7)(A) EIDL application. 

False Statements and Lack of Candor: 

3. Federal Criminal False Statement s\,lillillo<&.....L.I,' U.S.C § 1001, by making two false statements 
to OIG investigators regarding two (b)(?)(A) ank transactions that she made. 

4. Lack of candor atlr�6)pIG interview regar mg: 1) (b)(?)(A) EIDL application and business 
operations, and; 2 er assertion that she did not receive su stantial monetary benefit from 
QWMP. 

5. Prior Approval for Outside Employment, 5 C.F.R. § 5701.101, and FTC Administrative 
Manual - Chapter 5: Section 300, Standards of Conduct, b not requesting and receiving 
approval to engage in outside employment activities wit (b)(7)(A) 

6. 5 C.F.R. § 2635.704, (Use of Government Property) and ministrative Manual -
Chapter 1: Section 310, Appropriate Use oflnformaf ology-B. Prohibited Use by 
using FTC prope1ty to conduct business on behalf o 

This investigation is now closed, and we are referring this report to management for any action 
deemed appropriate. 

90 Attachment 10. 
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MEMORANDUM 

TO: 

FROM: 

Andrew Katsaros 
Inspector General 

Noel Rosengart 

Fo1A-2025-0iJMTEfil��fi!s OF l(���o" 412912025 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20580 

September 27, 2024 

Assistant Inspector General for Investigations 

SUBJECT: Closing Memo (1-19-202) 

On May 30, 2019, the Federal Trade Commission (FTC), Office of Inspector General (OIG), received 
notification from the U.S. Secret Service USSS re ardin an on oin Federal/State identity theft 
investigation into subjects, (b)(6) Specifically, the USSS and 
the Cary, North Carolina Police Department (Cary) were investigating a scheme involving a conspiracy 
to fraudulently obtain multiple loans from various financial institutions. Potential violations included 18 
U.S.C § 1341 (Mail Fraud), 18 U.S.C. §1343 (Wire Fraud), and 18 U.S.C. §1344 (Bank Fraud). 

According to the USSS, the subjects were using falsified income statements and W2 forms, which were 
inflated, to apply for numerous loans at one time. Once the loans applied for were approved and 
received, the subjects filed false police reports claiming to have been victims of identity theft. Once the 
police repo1t was approved and available for receipt, the subjects used those reports to file false 
affidavits of identity theft reports with FTC. Total fraud loss to date exceeds $1,000,000. 

The OIG subsequently provided USSS/Ca with approximately 60 identity theft reports for subjects 
including, but not limited to (b)(6) To date, there have been no indictments of any 
subjects in this investigation. 1ttona y, numerous status update requests by the OIG indicate that 
there has been little or no case activity in this investigation by USSS/Cary since the case opening. 

Since there have been no subject indictments subsequent to the case opening over five years ago and the 
investigation is in a state of prolonged dormancy, this matter is now administratively closed with the 
possibility of reopening should there be any indictments or the initiation of new significant case activity. 
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os, Inspector General 
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